GENERIC-CASE COMPLEXITY, DECISION PROBLEMS IN GROUP THEORY AND RANDOM WALKS

ILYA KAPOVICH, ALEXEI MYASNIKOV, PAUL SCHUPP, AND VLADIMIR SHPILRAIN

ABSTRACT. We give a precise definition of "generic-case complexity" and show that for a very large class of finitely generated groups the classical decision problems of group theory - the word, conjugacy and membership problems - all have linear-time generic-case complexity. We prove such theorems by using the theory of random walks on regular graphs.

Contents

1.	Motivation	1
2.	Algorithms and decision problems for groups	4
3.	Generic-case complexity	6
4.	Main results	8
5.	Cogrowth and simple random walks on regular graphs	15
6.	Cogrowth in groups	18
7.	The Membership problem	21
8.	The Conjugacy problem	25
9.	Some general observations on generic-case complexity	27
References		30

1. MOTIVATION

Algorithmic problems such as the word, conjugacy and membership problems have played an important role in group theory since the work of M. Dehn in the early 1900's. These problems are "decision problems" which ask for a "yes-or-no" answer to a specific question. For example, the word problem for a finitely presented group $G = \langle x_1, \ldots, x_k | r_1, \ldots, r_m \rangle$ asks, given a word w in $\{x_1, \ldots, x_k\}^{\pm 1}$, whether or not this word represents the identity element of G. The classical result of P. S. Novikov and of W. Boone

Date: October 12, 2004.

2000 Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 20F36, Secondary 20E36, 57M05.

states that there exists a finitely presented group with unsolvable word problem. This implies that most other problems (the conjugacy, membership, isomorphism, and order problems) are also unsolvable in the class of all finitely presented groups (see the survey papers [1, 48] for a detailed exposition).

With the advance of modern computers interest in algorithmic mathematics shifted to the realm of decidable problems with a particular emphasis on complexity of algorithms, and in the 1970s modern complexity theory was born. It quickly turned out that some decidable problems which one would really like to solve are too difficult to be solved in full generality on actual computers. Among different possible complexity measures the most important for us here is time complexity. Usually, algorithms with linear, or quadratic, or sometimes even with high degree polynomial time complexity, are viewed as fast algorithms. Fortunately, several classes of infinite groups have fast algorithms for their decision problems. For example, the word and conjugacy problems for any word-hyperbolic group are solvable in linear and in quadratic time respectively, and the word problem for a linear group over the field of rational numbers can be solved in cubic time. On the other hand, there are finitely presented groups whose word problem has arbitrarily high time complexity. For a group with exponential time complexity of the word problem any algorithm solving the word problem needs at least exponentially many steps (in length of the word) to halt on infinitely many inputs. This type of analysis concerns the worst-case behavior of an algorithm and is now often called worst-case complexity.

Many algorithms for solving the word problem in finitely presented groups are difficult to analyze and their worst-case complexity is not known. For example, for the Magnus algorithm for the word problem for one-relator groups [45] we do not even know if the complexity is bounded above by any fixed tower of exponentials. Yet anyone who has conducted computer experiments with finitely presented groups knows that there is often some kind of an easy "fast check" algorithm which quickly produces a solution for "most" inputs of the problem. This is true even if the worst-case complexity of the particular problem is very high or the problem is unsolvable. Thus many group-theoretic decision problems have a very large set of inputs where the (usually negative) answer can be obtained easily and quickly. Indeed, our intuition on the subject has been formed by computer experiments and the main purpose of this paper is to explain some of this phenomenon. It turns out that a precise mathematical explanation comes from the theory of random walks on regular graphs.

The kind of situation which we have in mind is often analogous to the use of Dantzig's Simplex Algorithm for linear programming problems. This algorithm is used hundreds of times daily and in practice almost always works quickly. The examples of V. Klee and G. Minty [41] showing that one can make the simplex algorithm take exponential time are very special. A "generic" or "random" linear programming problem is not "special", and the

algorithm works quickly. Observations of this type led to the development of average-case complexity. There are several different approaches to the average-case complexity, but they all involve computing the expected value of the running time of an algorithm with respect to some measure on the set of inputs (for example, see [37, 42]).

To study generic-case complexity, which deals with the performance of an algorithm on "most" inputs, we first need a notion of which sets are generic. Let ν be a probability distribution on X^* , or, more generally, an arbitrary additive function with values in [0,1] defined on some subsets of the set X^* of all finite words over a finite alphabet X. A subset $T \subset X^*$ is called generic with respect to ν if $\nu(X^* - T) = 0$. Then, for example, we would say that an algorithm Ω has polynomial-time generic-case complexity with respect to ν , if Ω runs in polynomial time on all inputs from some subset T of X^* which is generic with respect to ν . Of course, we can define generic-case complexity being in any complexity class \mathcal{C} , not only for polynomial time.

Thus "generic-case" complexity is in the spirit of but quite different from average-case complexity in several respects. First of all, in average-case complexity the decision problem considered must be decidable and one has to have a total algorithm to solve it. One is then interested in the expected value of the running time of the algorithm. On the other hand, in generic-case complexity we consider the behavior of the algorithm only on a generic set T and completely ignore its behavior elsewhere. Thus we consider partial algorithms which may only halt on the set T and the total problem being considered can have arbitrarily high worst-case complexity or even be undecidable.

The general idea of generic behavior in the context of group theory was introduced by M. Gromov [34] when he defined the class of word-hyperbolic groups. M. Gromov indicated that "most" finitely presented groups are word-hyperbolic. This was made precise by A. Ol'shanskii [50] and also by C. Champetier [19] who formalized the notion of a "generic" group-theoretic property. Further research on generic group-theoretic properties has been done by C. Champetier [19, 20, 21], G. Arzhantseva [7, 8, 9, 6], A. Zuk (unpublished), P.-A. Cherix with co-authors [22, 23] and others. Recently M. Gromov [36] pushed his ideas about "random groups" further with the goal of constructing finitely presentable groups that do not admit uniform embeddings into a Hilbert space.

The notion of genericity in the work cited above concerns the collection of all finitely presented groups. In this paper we shift the focus to considering generic properties of algorithmic problems in *individual* groups with respect to asymptotic density (see Section 3).

We are grateful to Laurent Bartholdi and Tatiana Smirnova-Nagnibeda for many helpful discussions regarding random walks on groups and graphs, to Carl Jockusch and Frank Stephan for discussions on the general idea of generic-case complexity and to Bogdan Peternko for suggesting the use of Stolz' theorem.

2. Algorithms and decision problems for groups

Convention 2.1. We follow the book Computational Complexity of C. Papadimtriou [51] for our conventions on computational complexity. Recall that a complexity class is determined by specifying a model of computation (which for us is always a multi-tape Turing machine), a mode of computation (e.g. deterministic or non-deterministic), resources to be controlled (e.g. time and space) and bounds for each controlled resource, that is functions f(x) such that for each input word w at most f(|w|) units of the specified resource needs to be extended by an appropriate Turing machine to reach a decision.

In this paper, unless specified otherwise, when talking about a "complexity class \mathcal{C} ", we assume that the resources to be controlled in the definition of \mathcal{C} are either time or space or a combination thereof. We also assume that the collection of functions bounding each resource consists of proper complexity functions f(n) > 0 (see [51] and Section 9 below) and that for any function f(n) in this collection and for any integer $C \geq 1$ the function Cf(Cn+C)+C also belongs to this collection. Most reasonable complexity classes, such as linear time, polynomial space, log-space, etc, satisfy these restrictions.

Recall that a decision problem is a subset \mathcal{D} of the set

$$(X^*)^k = X^* \times \dots \times X^*$$

 $(k \ge 1 \text{ factors})$, where X^* is the set of all words on a finite alphabet X. (By introducing an extra alphabet symbol "," we could view a k-tuple of words $(w_1, w_2, \ldots, w_k) \in (X^*)^k$ as a single word in the alphabet $X \cup \{,\}$.)

In this section we focus on three classical decision problems for a given finitely generated group G: the word problem (WP), the conjugacy problem (CP), and the subgroup membership problem (MP). (Our approach is quite general and can be applied to other group-theoretic decision problems, such as the order of an element problem.) To formulate these problems precisely one needs to specify exactly how the group G is "given". To do this, one chooses a finite set of generators A of a group G, that is, one fixes a map $\pi: A \to G$ such that $G = \langle \pi(A) \rangle$. To simplify notation we identify elements of A with their images under π in G. Put $X = A \cup A^{-1}$. Thus every word $w \in X^*$ represents an element $\pi(w) \in G$.

Now we are ready to formulate the algorithmic problems above with respect to the given set of generators A:

(WP) Given a word $w \in X^*$ determine whether or not w represents the identity element in G (symbolically, $w =_G 1$). Thus

$$WP(G, A) := \{ w \in X^* \mid w =_G 1 \}.$$

(CP) Given two words $u, v \in X^*$ determine whether they represent conjugate elements of G or not. Thus

$$CP(G, A) := \{(u, v) \in X^* \times X^* \mid \pi(u), \pi(v) \text{ are conjugate in } G\}.$$

(MP) Let $H \leq G$ be a fixed finitely generated subgroup. Given a word $u \in X^*$ determine whether or not u belongs to H. Thus

$$MP(G, H, A) := \{ w \in X^* \mid \pi(w) \in H \}.$$

Convention 2.2. We call these problems the A-versions of the corresponding problem about G to emphasize the choice of generators A. We use the notation \mathbf{D} to denote a problem about a group G and we denote by \mathcal{D}_A the A-version of \mathbf{D} corresponding to the finite generating set A of G. Thus if \mathbf{D} is the word problem for G, then $\mathcal{D}_A = WP(G, A)$. If \mathbf{D} is a problem about a group G and C is a complexity class, we say that \mathbf{D} is solvable for G with complexity in C if for every finite generating set A of G the language \mathcal{D}_A is in C.

Of course, instead of the problems over X^* one can consider decision problems only over freely reduced words, that is, decision problems $\mathcal{D} \subset F(A)^k$, where F(A) is the free group on A. Since one can easily (in linear time) reduce a word in X^* to its reduced form in F(A) these two decision problems are equivalent with respect to time complexity classes. In average-case or generic-case complexity, where the measure on the set of inputs matters, the equivalence between these two points of view needs to be verified. Most of our results are unchanged if we take F(A) rather than X^* as the set of inputs.

If Y is another finite set of generators for G and \mathcal{D}_Y is the Y-version of the decision problem \mathcal{D} then these two decision problem are equivalent from the point of view of worst-case complexity. Indeed, every generator $x \in X = A \cup A^{-1}$ can be written as a word in F(Y). Thus every word in X^* can be re-written in linear time as a word in Y^* representing the same group element. This provides a linear-time reduction of \mathcal{D}_A to \mathcal{D}_Y , and vice versa. Thus the worst-case complexity of group-theoretic decision problems does not depend on the choice of a finite generating set and is a true group invariant. By contrast, in the average or generic-case complexities a change in generating sets might conceivably give a different result and we will make invariance part of our definition. All of the results proved in this paper are invariant under change of a generating set.

A more complicated class of algorithmic problems can be described as witness problems. Unlike decision problems, a "witness problem" asks to produce, for a given element $u \in \mathcal{D}$, an explicit justification or "proof" of the fact that u is, indeed, in \mathcal{D} . For example, the "witness" version of the Word Problem for a presentation $\langle A \mid R \rangle$, given a word $u \in ncl(R)$, asks for an explicit expression of u as a product of conjugates of elements from $R^{\pm 1}$.

$$u = \prod_{j=1}^{t} u_j^{-1} r_j^{\epsilon_j} u_j,$$

where $u_j \in F(A)$, $r_j \in R$, and $\epsilon_j = \pm 1$.

The witness Conjugacy Problem would require producing a conjugating element, and the witness Membership Problem would ask for an expression of a given $u \in \langle v_1, \ldots, v_k \rangle$ as a product of the given generators (and their inverses) of the subgroup considered. Although witness problems are increasingly important (for example, in group-based cryptography [3]), we concentrate here on the traditional decision problems.

Suppose we have a total algorithm Ω_1 solving a decision problem \mathcal{D} and also a partial algorithm Ω_2 solving the problem generically with low genericcase complexity. Then by running Ω_1 and Ω_2 in parallel we obtain a new total algorithm $\Omega = \Omega_1 || \Omega_2$ which solves \mathcal{D} with low generic-case complexity. The idea of putting these two algorithms together is in fact used by many practical experimenters. That is, for a particular problem one should look both for an exact solution with minimal known worst-case complexity and for a partial "generic" solution which will work very fast on most inputs. The computational group theory package "Magnus" already uses this philosophy very substantially, as most problems there are attacked by several algorithms running in parallel, including "fast checks" working with abelianizations and other quotients. We refer the reader to the article of G. Baumslag and C. F. Miller [13] for a more detailed discussion on "Magnus". More recently, several applications of genetic algorithms in group theory [49, 57] revealed that some classical problems that were believed to have only "too slow". i.e., non-practical, solutions, admit a very fast solution generically. This, as well as numerous computer experiments, provided an important source of intuition for the present paper.

If the generic-case complexity of Ω_2 is very low and the worst-case complexity of the total algorithm Ω_1 is not too high, then the combined algorithm may have low actual average-case complexity. The idea of using generic-case results to prove average-case results in this way seems very fruitful, and we have already been able to obtain some interesting results which will be the subject of a future paper.

3. Generic-Case complexity

We have stressed that in order to measure the "largeness" of a set of words on an alphabet one needs a measure or, at least, an additive positive real-value function defined on some sets of words in the alphabet. For this paper we use the asymptotic density function suggested in the work of A. Borovik, A. Myasnikov and V. Shpilrain [17] (see also [16]) and similar in spirit to concepts considered by M. Gromov, A. Ol'shanskii and C. Champetier.

Definition 3.1 (Asymptotic density). Let X be a finite alphabet with at least two elements and let $(X^*)^k$ denote the set of all k-tuples of words on X. The length of a k-tuple $(w_1, ..., w_k)$ is the sum of the lengths of the w_i . Let S be a subset of $(X^*)^k$. For every $n \geq 0$ let B_n be the set of all k-tuples in $(X^*)^k$ of length at most n.

We define the asymptotic density $\rho(S)$ for S in $(X^*)^k$ as

$$\rho(S) := \limsup_{n \to \infty} \rho_n(S)$$

where

$$\rho_n(S) := \frac{|S \cap B_n|}{|B_n|},$$

If the actual limit $\lim_{n\to\infty} \rho_n(S)$ exists, we denote $\widehat{\rho}(S) := \rho(S)$.

In the case where the limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_n(S) = \widehat{\rho}(S)$$

exists we shall be interested in estimating the speed of convergence of the sequence $\{\rho_n(S)\}$. To this end, if $a_n \geq 0$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} a_n = 0$, we will say that the convergence is exponentially fast if there is $0 \leq \sigma < 1$ and C > 0 such that for every $n \geq 1$ we have $a_n \leq C\sigma^n$. Similarly, if $\lim_{n\to\infty} b_n = 1$ (where $0 \leq b_n \leq 1$), we will say that the convergence is exponentially fast if $1 - b_n$ converges to 0 exponentially fast.

Definition 3.2 (Generic sets). We say that a subset $S \subseteq (X^*)^k$ is generic if $\widehat{\rho}(S) = 1$.

If in addition $\rho_n(S)$ converges to 1 exponentially fast, we say that S is strongly generic.

What we have really defined is being generic with respect to $\hat{\rho}$ in the sense discussed in Section 1. Since we now fix this particular concept of being generic, we simply say "generic" for the rest of this paper. The complement of a generic set is termed a negligible set. We can define strongly negligible sets in a similar manner. In the following lemma we collect several simple but useful properties of generic and negligible sets.

Lemma 3.3. Let S, T be subsets of $(X^*)^k$. Then the following hold:

- 1) S is generic if and only if \overline{S} is negligible.
- 2) If S is generic and $S \subseteq T$ then T is generic.
- 3) Finite unions and intersections of generic (negligible) sets are generic (negligible).
- 4) If S is generic and T is negligible, then S-T is generic.
- 5) The collection \mathcal{B} of all generic and all negligible sets forms an algebra of subsets of $(X^*)^k$.

Now we can define generic-case complexity of algorithms.

Definition 3.4 (Generic and strong generic performance of a partial algorithm). Let $\mathcal{D} \subseteq (X^*)^k$ be a decision problem and let \mathcal{C} be a complexity class. Let Ω be a correct partial algorithm for \mathcal{D} , that is, whenever Ω reaches a definite decision on whether or not a tuple in $(X^*)^k$ belongs to \mathcal{D} , that decision is correct.

We say that Ω solves \mathcal{D} with generic-case complexity \mathcal{C} if there is a generic subset $S \subseteq (X^*)^k$ such that for every tuple $\tau \in S$ the algorithm Ω terminates on the input τ within the complexity bound \mathcal{C} .

If in addition the set S is strongly generic, then we say that the partial algorithm Ω solves the problem \mathcal{D} with generic-case complexity strongly \mathcal{C} .

We again point out that we completely ignore the performance of Ω on tuples not in S and the definition thus applies to the case where \mathcal{D} has arbitrarily high worst-case complexity or is indeed undecidable.

One can now define "generic" complexity classes of decision problems in the obvious way.

Definition 3.5 (Generic complexity classes). Let \mathcal{C} be a complexity class. Then $\operatorname{Gen}(\mathcal{C})$ denotes the class of all decision problems \mathcal{D} for which there exists a partial algorithm solving \mathcal{D} with generic-case complexity \mathcal{C} . Similarly, $\operatorname{SGen}(\mathcal{C})$ denotes the class of all decision problems \mathcal{D} for which there exists a partial algorithm solving \mathcal{D} with generic-case complexity strongly in \mathcal{C} .

As we mentioned before, while the worst-case complexity of most grouptheoretic decision problems does not depend on the choice of a finite generating set for a group, it is not at all clear (and is probably false) that genericcase complexity *per se* is independent of the chosen set of generators. In order to have a true group-theoretic invariant, we need to incorporate such independence into the following definition.

Definition 3.6 (Generic-case complexity of a decision problem **D** for a group G). Let G be a finitely generated group. Let **D** be an algorithmic problem about the group G. We say that the decision problem **D** for G has generic-case complexity in C (strongly in C if for every finite generating set A of G there exists a partial algorithm $\Omega(A)$ which solves the problem $\mathcal{D}_A \subset (A \cup A^{-1})^*$ with generic-case complexity C (strongly in C).

4. Main results

In this section we formulate the main results of the paper. Even though our results regarding the word problem follow from the more general theorem about the membership problem (see Theorem B below), we state the word problem results first since most of the applications which we have in mind concern the word problem.

The concept of a group being non-amenable plays an important role in our results but for now the reader needs only to remember that any group which contains a free subgroup of rank two is non-amenable.

Theorem A. Let G be a finitely generated group. Suppose that G has a finite index subgroup that possesses an infinite quotient group \overline{G} for which the word problem is solvable in the complexity class C. Then the word problem for G has generic-case complexity in the class C. Moreover, if the group \overline{G} is nonamenable, then the generic-case complexity of the word problem for G is strongly in C.

There are a number of interesting immediate corollaries of the above result.

Corollary 4.1. Let G be a finitely generated group.

- (1) Suppose G has a finite index subgroup that possesses an infinite word-hyperbolic quotient \overline{G} . Then the word problem for G is generically in real time. Moreover, if \overline{G} is non-elementary, then the word problem for G is strongly generically in linear time.
- (2) Suppose G has a finite index subgroup that possesses an infinite automatic quotient \overline{G} . Then the word problem for G is generically in quadratic time. Moreover, if \overline{G} is non-amenable, then the word problem for G is strongly generically in quadratic time.
- (3) Suppose G has a finite index subgroup that possesses an infinite quotient group \overline{G} , that is linear over a field of zero characteristic.

Then the word problem for G is generically in polynomial time. Moreover, if if \overline{G} is not virtually solvable, then the word problem for G is strongly generically in polynomial time.

Proof. It is well known that for any word-hyperbolic group and for any finite generating set of this group, there is a set of defining relators for which Dehn's algorithm solves the word problem in linear time in the length of the input word. Moreover, this linear-time algorithm can be carried out by a multi-tape Turing machine. This was first observed by Domanski and Anshel [4] (see also [2] for a detailed description of the algorithm). Moreover, Holt and Rees [38, 39] have proved that for a word-hyperbolic group the algorithm solving the word problem can be carried out by a multi-tape *real-time* Turing machine.

It is also well known that any word-hyperbolic group is either virtually cyclic (in which case it is called *elementary*) or contains a free group of rank two (in which case it is called *non-elementary*). Thus every non-elementary word-hyperbolic group is non-amenable. Together with Theorem A this implies the first part of Corollary 4.1.

Similarly, the classical result of [27] shows that for an automatic group with any finite generating set there is an algorithm which solves the word problem in quadratic time. Again, by Theorem A the second part of Corollary 4.1 immediately follows.

An important result of R. Lipton and Y. Zalcstein [43] states that for a finitely generated group over a field of characteristic zero the word problem is solvable in log-space and hence in polynomial time. By a famous theorem of J.Tits [56], a finitely generated linear group that is not virtually solvable contains a nonabelian free subgroup and hence is nonamenable. This, together with Theorem A, implies the third part of Corollary 4.1.

Example 4.2. If G is any finitely generated group with infinite abelianization then G maps onto the infinite cyclic group and hence by Corollary 4.1 the word problem in G is solvable generically in linear time. This is also

equivalent to being able to write G as an HNN extension in some way. The result thus applies to all knot groups, all Artin groups and infinite one-relator groups.

Example 4.3. Let G be a finitely generated infinite virtually solvable group. Then G has a finite index subgroup that possesses an infinite virtually abelian quotient. Hence by Corollary 4.1 the word problem in G is solvable generically in linear time.

Example 4.4. Recall that the *n*-strand braid group B_n , where $n \geq 3$, is given by the presentation

$$B_n = \langle a_1, \dots, a_{n-1} \mid a_i a_{i+1} a_i = a_{i+1} a_i a_{i+1}, \text{ for } i = 1, \dots, n-2,$$

and $a_i a_j = a_j a_i \text{ for } |i-j| > 1 \rangle$

The pure braid group P_n corresponds to those n-strand braids where every strand ends in the same position that it begins. Then P_n is a normal subgroup of index n! in B_n and B_n/P_n is isomorphic to the symmetric group S_n . While it is hard to map one braid group onto another, this task is easy with pure braid groups: for $n \geq 4$ the group P_n maps onto P_{n-1} by "pulling out" the last strand of a braid. Thus for every $n \geq 3$ the group P_3 is a quotient group of P_n . It is well-known that $P_3 \cong F(a,b) \times \mathbb{Z}$. Thus for each $n \geq 3$ the group P_n has a non-abelian free quotient F(a,b). Since P_n is of finite index in P_n and since P_n is nonelementary word-hyperbolic, Corollary 4.1 implies that for $n \geq 3$ the groups P_n and P_n have word-problems solvable with generic-case complexity P_n in linear-time.

Example 4.5. Let $G = Aut(F_n)$ or $G = Out(F_n)$ where $n \geq 2$. Then by looking at the action of an automorphism (an outer automorphism) of F_n on the abelianization of F_n we see that G maps onto the group $GL(n, \mathbb{Z})$. Since the word problem in $GL(n, \mathbb{Z})$ is solvable in quadratic time and $GL(n, \mathbb{Z})$ is non-amenable (it contains a nonabelian free subgroup), Corollary 4.1 implies hat the word problem for G is solvable strongly generically in quadratic time.

This observation raises the interesting question of determining the worst-case complexity of the word problem for $G = Aut(F_n)$, say with generators the elementary Nielsen automorphisms. We usually think that the "obvious algorithm" of checking if the action of an automorphism α fixes the generators is very simple, but writing out all the intermediate steps could yield exponentially long words. It is not clear if there an algorithm with better worst-case complexity.

Example 4.6. Theorem A holds even if G has unsolvable word problem. We consider the finitely presented Boone group \mathcal{B} with unsolvable word problem as described in J. Rotman's book [52]. One proves the word problem unsolvable by showing that equality between certain "special" words exactly mimics the word problem in a semigroup with undecidable word problem. We again have the situation that the complexity hinges on words of a very special form. It is easy to see that the group \mathcal{B} has the nonabelian free group

generated by all the r_i as the quotient group which is obtained by killing all the other generators. Thus the stronger conclusion of the theorem applies and the generic-case complexity of the word problem for \mathcal{B} is strongly linear time. This is not really surprising and is a precise version of the statement that the group \mathcal{B} is "large" and the set of special words is really quite "sparse".

Example 4.7. Let G be a group with a finite presentation involving at least two more generators than relators. By the result of B. Baumslag and S. J. Pride [11] G has a subgroup of finite index that can be mapped homomorphically onto the free group of rank two. Hence by Corollary 4.1 G has word problem solvable strongly generically in linear time.

In strong contrast with worst-case complexity is the fact that genericcase complexity for a problem \mathbf{D} for a group G tells us nothing whatsoever about the complexity of **D** for subgroups of G. For example, if G is any finitely generated group, then G is certainly embedded in the direct product $P = G \times F(a,b)$ of G and the free group F(a,b) of rank two. We can apply Theorem A to P by taking the homomorphism to F(a,b) which kills all the elements of G. Since F(a,b) is hyperbolic and non-amenable, Theorem A implies that the word problem in P is strongly generically in linear time. But this says nothing at all about G because we just erased all information about G. This remark does show that every finitely generated group can be embedded in a finitely generated group whose word problem has generic-case complexity strongly in linear time. A well-known theorem of B. H. Neumann (see [44]) shows that there are continuumly many 2-generator groups, and thus there are continuumly many n-generator groups for every $n \geq 2$. Thus there are continuumly many finitely generated groups whose word problem has generic-case complexity strongly linear time. This is in sharp contrast with the fact that there are only countably many finitely generated groups with solvable word problem.

The following computer experiment is easy to program. Let F_n be a free group of rank n and let ϕ be the homomorphism from F_n to F_{n-k} defined by sending the the first k < n generators of F_n to the identity. Pick a large length l and use a random number generator to generate a large number of random freely reduced words of length l. If one calculates the ratio of the number of words w with $\phi(w) \neq 1$ to the total of number of words generated, one observes exactly the phenomena predicted by the theory of random walks.

We now turn to the membership problem. It is necessary to discuss both a basic situation where the membership problem is solvable and also a basic result about undecidability of the membership problem. We first observe that if G is any finitely generated group and H is a subgroup of finite index, then the membership problem for H in G is decidable in linear time. Choose a finite set A of generators of G. The Schreier coset graph $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ is defined as follows. The vertex set V of $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ is the set of

cosets $\{Hg|g \in G\}$. If $y \in A$ then there is an edge labeled by y from Hg to Hgy. Every edge in $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ with label $a \in A$ is equipped with a formal inverse edge labeled by a^{-1} . Thus $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ is an oriented labeled graph.

If A is finite and H has finite index in G then the graph $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ is a finite. We can view $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ as the transition graph of a finite state automaton M where the initial state and the only final state is the coset H1 = H. By the definition of the coset graph, for any word w on the generators and their inverses, M accepts w if and only if $w \in H$. Thus the membership problem for H is indeed decidable in linear time: given a word $w \in (A \cup A^{-1})^*$, read w on the graph starting at the coset H and see if one ends back at the coset H. A generalized version of these ideas is currently important in geometric group theory.

Theorem B. Let G be a finitely generated group and let $H \leq G$ be a finitely generated subgroup of infinite index. Let G_1 be a subgroup of finite index in G such that $H \leq G_1$ and let $\phi: G_1 \to \overline{G}$ be an epimorphism. Assume that $\overline{H} = \phi(H)$ is contained in a subgroup \overline{K} of infinite index in \overline{G} and such that the membership problem for \overline{K} in \overline{G} is in the complexity class C. Then the membership problem for H in G has generic-case complexity in C. Moreover, if the Schreier coset graph $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K}, A)$ is non-amenable (for some and hence any finite generating set A of G), then the generic-case complexity of the membership problem for H in G is strongly in C.

The "strong" conclusion of Theorem B holds, for example, if \overline{G} is non-elementary hyperbolic group and \overline{K} is a quasiconvex subgroup of \overline{G} . Indeed, in this case the coset graph $\Gamma(\overline{G},\overline{K},A)$ is non-amenable by a recent result of I. Kapovich [40]. Since the membership problem for a quasiconvex subgroup of a hyperbolic group is solvable in linear time, Theorem B implies that the membership problem for H in G is strongly generically in linear time.

Example 4.8. An Artin group is a group with a presentation

(1)
$$G = \langle a_1, \dots, a_n | u_{ij} = u_{ji}, \text{ where } 1 \leq i < j \leq n, \rangle$$
 be an Artin group where for $i \neq j$

$$u_{ij} := \underbrace{a_i a_j a_i \dots}_{m_{ij} \text{ times}}$$

The Coxeter group C associated with G is the quotient group obtained by setting the squares of the generators equal to the identity. In general, the membership problem may be unsolvable for a Coxeter group or an Artin group. A Coxeter group or an Artin group is of extra-large type if all $m_{ij} \geq 4$. Any Coxeter group of extra-large type with at least three generators is a non-elementary hyperbolic group. K. Appel and P. Schupp[5] solved the membership problem for subgroups generated by subsets of the given generators in Artin groups of extra-large type, but very little is known about the membership problem for arbitrary finitely generated subgroups. If H is a finitely generated subgroup of an Artin group G such that the image \overline{H}

in the Coxeter quotient C and is quasiconvex then the membership problem for H in G has generic-case complexity strongly linear time. P. Schupp [53] showed that all groups in a very extensive class of Coxeter groups are locally quasiconvex, that is, every finitely generated subgroup is quasiconvex. Also, one can check whether or not a finitely generated subgroup has infinite index in quadratic time. This provides a large set of examples of finitely generated subgroups of Artin groups where the generic-case complexity of the membership problem is strongly in linear time.

Example 4.9. A basic negative result about the membership problem is the theorem of K. Mihailova [46] that if $P_n = F_n \times F_n$ is the direct product of two copies of the free group F_n of rank $n \geq 2$, then there are subgroups H of P_n with unsolvable membership problem (see [44]). Let

$$G = \langle x_1, ..., x_n | r_1, ..., r_m \rangle$$

be a finitely presented group with unsolvable word problem. By using the well-known Higman-Neumann-Neumann embedding of a finitely presented group into a 2-generator group, we may assume that n is any integer which is at least 2. We use the ordered pair notation for elements of the direct product $P_n = F_n \times F_n$. Let H be the subgroup of P_n with generators

$$(x_1, x_1), ..., (x_n, x_n), (1, r_1), ..., (1, r_m)$$

Since the r_i are defining relators for G, an easy argument shows that

$$(u, v) \in H$$
 if and only if $u = v$ in G

Thus deciding membership in H is equivalent to solving the word problem in G.

We point out that "genericity" is operating at three different levels when considering the membership problem. Let us fix P_n as the direct product of two free groups of rank n. Call a subgroup H a subgroup of Mihailova type if H has a set of generators of the form (*) above, which is very special. If we choose a random set of generators for a subgroup, it is very unlikely that they will be even close to being of Mihailova type. The remarks above showed that membership in a Mihailova subgroup H is equivalent to the word problem for the group G whose defining relators are the r_i . So just among subgroups of Mihailova type, if we choose the r_i at random we encounter the phenomenon that finitely presented groups on a fixed set of generators are generically hyperbolic and thus the membership problem for the corresponding H is still actually solvable in linear time. But Theorem B still applies to a particular Mihailova subgroup chosen to have unsolvable membership problem. All the known explicitly constructed groups with unsolvable word problem have at least infinite cyclic quotients, even after embedding into a two-generator group. That is, there is a homomorphism ϕ from F_n to \mathbb{Z} which sends all the r_i to the identity. Let ψ be the homomorphism from P_n to $Q_n = F_n \times \mathbb{Z}$ defined by $\psi(u,v)=(u,\phi(v))$. The image \overline{H} of H is $F_n\times\{1\}$ which has

infinite index in Q_n . The membership problem for \overline{H} in Q_n is clearly in linear time since to decide if $(u,v) \in \overline{H}$ one only has to check if v equals the identity. If, for example, we use the Boone group \mathcal{B} directly, without reducing the number of generators, to construct a Mihailova subgroup, then we have a homomorphism where the image \overline{H} is the first factor of $F_k \times F_2$ and the generic-case complexity of the membership problem for H is strongly linear time.

There is a similar theorem for the conjugacy problem.

Theorem C. Let G be a non-cyclic finitely generated group with infinite abelianization. Then the generic-case complexity of the conjugacy problem for G is linear time.

Theorem C is applicable to a wide variety of groups, such as infinite onerelator groups, Braid and Artin groups, knot groups etc.

We shall see that the proof of the theorem reduces to the case of the word problem since two words are conjugate in an abelian group if and only if they are equal. The reader has probably noticed that a statement about strong generic-case complexity in the case of non-amenable quotients is missing from the theorem. At the present writing we do not have a proof which is invariant under changing the set of generators although we believe that such a theorem is true.

A very interesting class of finitely presented groups with unsolvable conjugacy problem is the class of residually finite groups with unsolvable conjugacy problem constructed by C. F. Miller [47]. Given any finitely presented group G with unsolvable word problem, Miller shows how to construct a group M(G) which is the semidirect product of two finitely generated free groups (and which is thus residually finite) where conjugacy in M(G) codes the word problem for G. As usual, the "code words" have a special form. The groups M(G) have large nonabelian free quotients. We can show (although the argument is not presented in this article) that the conjugacy problem of such an M(G) has generic-case complexity which is strongly linear time because the free quotient is obtained by simply killing some of the given generators.

We again stress some important limitations of generic case complexity.

First, just the definition of generic-case complexity does not say anything about the speed with which a particular sequence tends to one or zero. If the quotient group \overline{G} is infinite but not "large enough", say $\overline{G} = \mathbb{Z}$, this speed may in fact be much slower than the exponentially fast convergence which we are really aiming at. The weaker convergence is all that we have for general one-relator groups.

Second, there is a substantial difference between our notion of "generic performance" and the notion of "average case complexity". In a situation like the word problem for one-relator groups where, although its complexity is not known, we at least have a total algorithm which is well understood, a

future hope is to combine generic and worst-case methods to obtain average-case results. In this regard the work of [16, 17] about constructing explicit measures on free groups may be particularly useful.

In general, our approach simply shows that for the "decision" version of the word and the membership problem the fast "No" answer component of the set of all inputs is very large. One may be mainly interested in some infinite recursive subset of inputs and many examples may not admit algorithms with fast generic performance when restricted to the subset of interest.

Finally, our results do not say anything about the generic behavior of the "witness" versions of the word, conjugacy and membership problems. Yet it appears to us that if one has in mind practical cryptographic applications, these applications have to be based on the "witness" versions of the problems (rather than "decision" ones).

Thus we regard this paper as just the first step in the direction of understanding the generic-case and average-case behavior of various group-theoretic algorithms.

The results which we discuss in the last section of the paper (on finding languages which are *not* in given generic complexity classes) are due to Carl Jockusch and Frank Stephan. For example, the set of languages over a finite alphabet A (with at least two letters) which are generically computable has measure zero (in a precise sense) in the set of all languages over A. Moreover, given any proper time-complexity function f(n) one can construct a language that is deterministically computable in time $f^3(n)$ but which cannot be generically computed in time f(n).

These general results do not, however, answer the question of constructing finitely generated groups with decision problems of arbitrarily "high" generic-case complexity, say with a word problem which is not generically solvable. All our results in this paper are proved by the "quotient method" of finding an infinite quotient group in which the relevant problems have the desired complexity. Using the existence of two disjoint recursively enumerable sets which are not recursively separable and the Adian-Rabin construction, C. F. Miller III [48] constructed an example of a finitely presented group G all of whose nontrivial quotients have unsolvable word problem! This particular group G therefore completely defeats our method of proof but it may well be the case that the word problem has low generic-case complexity for some different reason. Indeed, it seems to be a very difficult problem to construct a finitely generated group where the generic-case complexity of the word problem is provably not linear.

5. Cogrowth and simple random walks on regular graphs

The proofs of our theorems depend on already known nontrivial facts about the behavior of simple random walks on regular graphs. The really hard work is done by that theory, so we now turn to the results which we need.

The subject of random walks on graphs and groups is vast and very active. We refer the reader to [18, 33, 58, 63, 64] for some background information and further references in this area. We will recall several basic definitions in facts which are directly needed in our arguments.

Definition 5.1. Let Γ be a d-regular graph (where $d \geq 2$) with a base-vertex x_0 .

Then let $a_n(\Gamma) = a_n$ denote the number of reduced paths (i.e. paths without backtracks) of length n from x_0 to x_0 in Γ . Similarly, let $b_n(\Gamma) = b_n$ be the number of all paths of length n from x_0 to x_0 in Γ . Also let $r_n = r_n(\Gamma)$ be denote the number of reduced paths of length at most n from x_0 to x_0 in Γ . Finally, let $z_n = z_n(\Gamma)$ denote the number of all paths of length at most n from x_0 to x_0 in Γ . Thus $r_n = \sum_{i=0}^n a_i$ and $z_n = \sum_{i=0}^n b_i$. Put

$$\alpha(\Gamma) = \alpha := \lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{a_n},$$

$$\beta(\Gamma) = \beta := \lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{b_n}$$

and

$$\nu(\Gamma) = \nu := \frac{1}{d}\beta(\Gamma).$$

We shall refer to $\alpha(\Gamma)$ as the cogrowth rate of Γ and to $\nu(\Gamma)$ as the spectral radius of Γ . The number $\beta(\Gamma)$ will be called the non-reduced cogrowth rate of Γ .

It turns out that the definitions of $\alpha(\Gamma)$, $\beta(\Gamma)$ and $\nu(\Gamma)$ do not depend on the choice of a base-point $x_0 \in \Gamma$ and we have (see for example [64, 18]):

Lemma 5.2. Let Γ be a connected d-regular graph with a base-vertex x_0 , where $d \geq 2$. Then:

- (1) The values of $\alpha(\Gamma)$, $\beta(\Gamma)$ and $\nu(\Gamma)$ do not depend on the choice of a base-point $x_0 \in \Gamma$.
- (2) $0 \le \alpha(\Gamma) \le d 1$, $0 \le \beta(\Gamma) \le d$ and $0 \le \nu(\Gamma) \le 1$.
- (3) $\nu = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \sqrt[n]{p^{(n)}}$ where $p^{(n)}$ is the probability that a simple random walk on Γ originating at x_0 will return to x_0 in n steps.

Definition 5.3. Let Γ be a d-regular graph where $d \geq 2$. We will say that Γ is *amenable* if $\nu(\Gamma) = 1$.

An important result connecting cogrowth and spectral radius was first obtained by R. Grigorchuck [33] and J. Cohen [24] for Cayley graphs of finitely generated groups and later generalized by L. Bartholdi [10] to the case of arbitrary regular graphs.

Theorem 5.4. Let Γ be a d-regular graph (where $d \geq 2$). Let $\alpha = \alpha(\Gamma)$, $\beta = \beta(\Gamma)$ and $\nu = \nu(\Gamma)$.

Then

$$\nu = \begin{cases} & \frac{\sqrt{d-1}}{d} \left(\frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{d-1}} + \frac{\sqrt{d-1}}{\alpha} \right) & \text{if } \alpha > \sqrt{d-1} \\ & \frac{2\sqrt{d-1}}{d} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

In particular $\nu < 1 \iff \alpha < d-1 \iff \beta < d$, that is $\nu = 1 \iff \alpha = d-1 \iff \beta = d$.

The above theorem indicates that Γ is amenable if and only if it has maximal possible cogrowth for a d-regular graph.

The following classical result is known as Stolz' Theorem (see for example [55]):

Lemma 5.5. Suppose x_n, y_n are sequences of real numbers such that $y_n < y_{n+1}$ for every n with $\lim_{n\to\infty} y_n = \infty$ and such that a finite limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{x_{n+1} - x_n}{y_{n+1} - y_n}$$

exists. Then

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{x_{n+1}-x_n}{y_{n+1}-y_n}=\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{x_n}{y_n}.$$

Lemma 5.6. Let $c_n \geq 0$ and c > 1 be such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{c_n}{c^n} = 0$. Put $f_n = \sum_{i=0}^n c_n$. Then $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{f_n}{c^n} = 0$

Proof. Applying Stolz' Theorem to $x_n = f_n$ and $y_n = c^n$ immediately yields Lemma 5.6.

Our principal technical tool is:

Theorem 5.7. Let Γ be an infinite connected d-regular graph, where $d \geq 3$. Let $a_n = a_n(\Gamma)$ and $r_n = r_n(\Gamma)$. Then

(i)

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{a_n}{(d-1)^n}=\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{b_n}{d^n}=0.$$

(ii)
$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{r_n}{(d-1)^n}=\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{z_n}{d^n}=0.$$

Proof. This fact is essentially due to L. Bartholdi as it follows from the remark on p.99 in [10]. It was first obtained (in a stronger form) by W. Woess [63] for the case where Γ is the Cayley graph of a finitely generated group. Independent proofs of Theorem 5.7 have also been obtained by T. Smirnova-Nagnibeda and W. Woess (unpublished).

We present briefly a formal argument for completeness.

Notice that by Lemma 5.6 (i) implies (ii) since $r_n = \sum_{i=0}^n a_i$ and $z_n = \sum_{i=0}^n b_i$. We will now verify (i).

Suppose first that $\alpha(\Gamma) < d-1$ and hence $\beta(\Gamma) < d$ by Theorem 5.4. Then there is $N_0 \ge 1$ and 0 < a < d-1 such that for all $n \ge N_0$ we have $a_n \le a^n$. Hence for $n \ge N_0$

$$\frac{a_n}{(d-1)^n} \le \frac{a^n}{(d-1)^n} \underset{n \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} 0$$

as required. A similar argument implies that $\lim_{n\to\infty} b_n/d^n = 0$. Hence the statement of Theorem 5.7 obviously holds. Thus we may assume that $\alpha(\Gamma) = d - 1$, so that $\beta(\Gamma) = d$ and $\nu(\Gamma) = 1$ by Theorem 5.4. Then the word-by-word repetition of the proof of Lemma 3.9 of [10] implies that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{a_n}{(d-1)^n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n}{d^n} = 0.$$

Indeed, Lemma 3.9 of [10] proves a stronger version of Theorem 5.7 under the assumption that Γ is also quasi-transitive. However, the only place in the proof of Lemma 3.9 in [10], where quasi-transitivity is used, is to conclude that $\beta(\Gamma) = d$ which is already known in our case.

In case where Γ is non-amenable, we can say even more.

Proposition 5.8. Let Γ be a non-amenable connected d-regular graph where $d \geq 3$ (and hence Γ is infinite). Let $a_n = a_n(\Gamma)$, $r_n = r_n(\Gamma)$, $b_n = b_n(\Gamma)$ and $z_n = z_n(\Gamma)$. Then

- (1) Both $\frac{a_n}{(d-1)^n} \to 0$ and $\frac{r_n}{(d-1)^n} \to 0$ exponentially fast.
- (2) Both $\frac{b_n}{d^n} \to 0$ and $\frac{z_n}{d^n} \to 0$ exponentially fast.

Proof. Since Γ is non-amenable, we have $\alpha = \limsup \sqrt[n]{a_n} < d-1$ which immediately implies that $\frac{a_n}{(d-1)^n} \to 0$ exponentially fast. It also means that there are $n_0 \ge 1$ and 1 < a < d-1 such that for any $n \ge n_0$ we have $a_n \le a^n$. Hence for $n \ge n_0$

$$r_n = r_{n_0-1} + \sum_{i=n_0}^n a_i \le r_{n_0-1} + a^{n_0} \frac{a^{n-n_0} - 1}{a-1}$$

Thus there are A, B > 0 such that for any $n \ge n_0$ we have $r_n \le A + Ba^n$. Since 1 < a < d-1, this implies that $\frac{r_n}{(d-1)^n}$ converges to zero exponentially fast. Thus part 1 of Proposition 5.8 is verified.

The non-amenability of Γ implies $\beta = \limsup \sqrt[n]{b_n} < d$, which implies part 2 of Proposition 5.8 by the same argument as above.

6. Cogrowth in groups

Let G be a group with a fixed finite generating set A consisting of $k \ge 1$ elements. If w is a word in $A \cup A^{-1}$, we will denote by $\pi(w)$ the element of G represented by w. We will also denote by |w| the length of the word w. For an element $g \in G$ denote by $|g|_A$ the length of a shortest word in $A \cup A^{-1}$ representing g. Also, if Q is an alphabet, we will denote by Q^* the

set of all words in Q. For a subset $S \subseteq G$ we will denote by S_A the set of all words in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$ representing elements of S.

Let $H \leq G$ be a fixed subgroup (not necessarily normal). Let $\Gamma = \Gamma(G, H, A)$ be the Schreier coset graph defined in Section 4. Then Γ is a connected 2k-regular graph. Note also that if H is normal in G, then Γ is precisely the Cayley graph of the group G/H with respect to the generating set A. Thus every edge-path in Γ has a label which is a word in the alphabet $A \cup A^{-1}$. It is easy to see that for any word w and any vertex x of Γ there exists a unique path in Γ with label w and origin x. Moreover, if w is the label of a path p starting at the vertex $x_0 := H1$ in Γ , then $\overline{w} \in H$ if and only if the terminal vertex of p is also equal to H1. The graph-theoretic concepts from the previous section can now be re-stated as follows:

 $a_n(G, H, A) = \#\{w | w \text{ is a freely reduced word of length } n \text{ in } A \cup A^{-1}$ with $\pi(w) \in H\},$

 $b_n(G, H, A) = \#\{w | w \text{ is a word of length } n \text{ in } A \cup A^{-1} \text{ with } \pi(w) \in H\},$

 $r_n(G, H, A) = \#\{w | w \text{ is a freely reduced word of length } \leq n \text{ in } A \cup A^{-1}$ with $\pi(w) \in H\}$

and

 $z_n(G, H, A) = \#\{w | w \text{ is a word of length } \le n \text{ in } A \cup A^{-1} \text{ with } \pi(w) \in H\}.$

Proposition 6.1. Let G be a group with a fixed finite generating set S and let $\Gamma = \Gamma(G, H, A)$ be the coset graph with base-vertex $x_0 = H1$. Then:

$$a_n(G, H, A) = a_n(\Gamma),$$
 $b_n(G, H, A) = b_n(\Gamma),$ $r_n(G, H, A) = r_n(\Gamma)$ and $z_n(G, H, A) = z_n(\Gamma).$

Proof. This fact follows directly from the definition of $\Gamma = \Gamma(G, H, A)$ and the fact that a word w over $A \cup A^{-1}$ represents an element of H if and only if the path in Γ staring at H1 and labeled w terminates at H1.

For this reason $\alpha(G,H,A) := \alpha(\Gamma)$ is called the *co-growth rate* of H in G with respect to A and $\beta(G,H,A) := \beta(\Gamma)$ is called the *non-reduced co-growth rate* of H in G with respect to A. Similarly, $\nu(G,H,A) := \nu(\Gamma)$ is called the *spectral radius* of H in G with respect to A. As before, $\alpha(G,H,A) \leq 2k-1$, $\beta(G,H,A) \leq 2k$. Moreover $\alpha(G,H,A) = 2k-1$ if and only if $\beta(G,H,A) = 2k$ if and only if Γ is amenable.

It is easy to see (and it is well-known) that amenability of $\Gamma(G, H, A)$ does not depend on the choice of a finite generating set A for G:

Proposition 6.2. Let G be a finitely generated group and $H \leq G$ be a subgroup. Suppose A, B are two finite generating sets for G. Put $\Gamma = \Gamma(G, H, A)$ and $\Gamma' = \Gamma(G, H, B)$. Then Γ is amenable if and only if Γ' is amenable.

Proof. By Proposition 38 and Theorem 51 of [18] amenability is a quasi-isometry invariant for regular graphs of finite degree. Let us equip Γ and Γ' with simplicial metrics d and d' accordingly. Let $C := \max\{|a|_B \mid a \in A\}$ and $C' := \max\{|b|_A \mid b \in B\}$. Then for any two cosets Hg_1, Hg_2 we have $d'(Hg_1, Hg_2) \leq C'd(Hg_1, Hg_2)$ and $d(Hg_1, Hg_2) \leq Cd'(Hg_1, Hg_2)$. Thus the identity map $Id : (V\Gamma, d) \to (V\Gamma', d')$ is a quasi-isometry, which implies the statement of the proposition.

According to the traditional definition, a finitely generated group G is called *amenable* if any action of G on a compact space Y by homeomorphisms admits a G-invariant probability measure on Y. It turns out that if A is finite generating set of G and $H \leq G$ is normal, then $\Gamma = \Gamma(G, H, A)$ is amenable if and only if the quotient group $G_1 = G/H$ is amenable. In particular G itself is amenable if and only if its Cayley graph $\Gamma(G, A)$ is amenable.

Suppose now that $G=F=F(x_1,\ldots,x_k)$ is a free group of rank $k\geq 2$. It is easy to see that the number of vertices of the n-sphere in the Cayley graph of F with respect to the free basis $A=\{x_1,\ldots,x_k\}$ is $2k(2k-1)^{n-1}$ for $n\geq 1$. Hence the number of elements of F in the n-ball around the identity is $1+\frac{k}{k-1}[(2k-1)^{n-1}-1]$ for $n\geq 1$.

Theorem 6.3. Let $F = F(x_1, ..., x_k)$ and let $H \le F$ be a subgroup, where $k \ge 2$. Put $A = \{x_1, ..., x_k\}$. Let $a_n = a_n(F, H, A)$, $r_n = r_n(F, H, A)$ and $\alpha = \alpha(F, H, A)$. Similarly, let $b_n = b_n(F, H, A)$, $z_n = z_n(F, H, A)$ and $\beta = \beta(F, H, A)$.

Then Γ is a 2k-regular graph, and $\alpha \leq 2k-1$, $\beta \leq 2k$. Moreover:

(1) If $[F:H] = \infty$ then

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{a_n}{(2k-1)^n}=\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{r_n}{(2k-1)^n}=0.$$

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n}{(2k)^n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{z_n}{(2k)^n} = 0.$$

Thus H_A has zero asymptotic density in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$ since the number of vertices in the ball of radius $n \ge 1$ in the Cayley graph $\Gamma(F, A)$ is $1 + \frac{k}{k-1}[(2k-1)^{n-1} - 1]$.

(2) If the coset graph for F relative H is non-amenable (and hence $[F:H]=\infty$) then all the limits in part 1 converge to zero exponentially fast.

(3) If
$$[F:H] < \infty$$
 then

$$\lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{a_n}{(2k-1)^n} > 0, \quad \lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{r_n}{(2k-1)^n} > 0,$$

$$\lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n}{(2k)^n} > 0, \quad \lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{z_n}{(2k)^n} > 0.$$

Proof. Parts 1 and 2 of this statement follows immediately from Theorem 5.7 and Proposition 5.8. We will now establish part 3 Theorem 6.3. Note that $r_n \geq a_n$ and $z_n \geq b_n$. Thus it suffices to check that lim-sups involving a_n and b_n are positive. Since $[F:H] < \infty$, there is a normal subgroup of finite index $H_1 \leq F$ such that $H_1 \leq H \leq F$. Then $a_n(F,H,A) \geq a_n(F,H_1,A)$ and $b_n(F,H,A) \geq b_n(F,H_1,A)$. So it suffices to consider the case where H is normal of finite index p in F. In this case the coset graph $\Gamma = \Gamma(F,H,A)$ is finite and has p vertices. Thus Γ is amenable and $\alpha(\Gamma) = 2k - 1$, $\beta(\Gamma) = 2k$. Then by the results of W.Woess [63] and L.Bartholdi [10]

$$\lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{a_n}{(2k-1)^n} = \lim \sup_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n}{(2k)^n} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{p} & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ has some odd-length circuits} \\ \frac{2}{p} & \text{if } \Gamma \text{ has only even-length circuits} \end{cases}$$

Thus Theorem 6.3 is proved.

When H is a normal subgroup of F, the first part of Theorem 6.3 is originally due to W.Woess [63]. One can obtain much more precise statements than Theorem 6.3, where the denominators are replaced by powers of the co-growth rate of H, but Theorem 6.3 is quite sufficient for our purposes.

7. The Membership Problem

We refer the reader to [2, 25, 34, 27, 31] for the background information on hyperbolic and automatic groups and their rational subgroups. We will recall several relevant definitions and results.

Definition 7.1. Let G be a group with a finite generating set A. Let L be a language over $A \cup A^{-1}$ such that $\pi(L) = G$, where π is the natural map from the free semigroup on $A \cup A^{-1}$ to the group G. Let $H \leq G$ be a subgroup.

(1) The subgroup $H \leq G$ is said to be L-rational if the set

$$L_H := \{ w \in L \, | \, \pi(w) \in H \}$$

is a regular language and $H = \pi(L_H)$.

(2) The subgroup $H \leq G$ is said to be L-quasiconvex if there exists K > 0 such that for any initial segment u of a word $w \in L_H$ there is a word v of length at most K such that $\pi(uv) \in H$.

An important observation of S. Gersten and H. Short [31] states that:

Proposition 7.2. Let G be a group with a finite generating set X and let L be a language over $X \cup X^{-1}$ such that $\pi(L) = G$. Let $H \leq G$ be a subgroup. Then H is L-rational if and only if H is L-quasiconvex.

As the example of cyclic subgroups of $G = \mathbb{Z} \times \mathbb{Z}$ illustrates, it is possible that a particular subgroup is rational with respect to one automatic structure on G but not the other. However, rationality is invariant in a somewhat weaker sense:

Proposition 7.3. Let G be an automatic group with a finite generating set A and an automatic language L over $A \cup A^{-1}$. Let $H \leq G$ be an L-rational subgroup. Then for any finite generating set B of G there is an automatic language L' over $B \cup B^{-1}$ for G such that H is L'-rational.

Suppose further that G is word-hyperbolic. Then for any finite generating set B of G and for any automatic language L' over $B \cup B^{-1}$ for G the subgroup H is L'-rational.

Proof. The statement regarding hyperbolic groups is well-known and reflects the fact that for word-hyperbolic groups all possible notions of quasiconvexity for subgroups coincide.

The statement about automatic groups follows from the results of [27], although it is not stated there directly. Indeed, Theorem 2.4.1 of [27] proves that given G, A, L as in Proposition 7.3, for any finite generating set B of G there is an automatic language L' for G over $B \cup B^{-1}$. The proof actually shows that any regular sub-language of L gets "translated" into a regular sub-language of L' with the same image in G. In this process L_H gets "translated" in L'_H and hence L'_H is regular, as required.

Because of Proposition 7.3 it is natural to adopt:

Definition 7.4 (Rational Subgroup). Let G be an automatic group and let $H \leq G$ be a subgroup.

We say that H is rational in G if there exists an automatic language L for G such that H in L-rational.

If G is word-hyperbolic then a rational subgroup is also often referred to as quasiconvex.

Proposition 7.5. Let G be an automatic group and let $H \leq G$ be a rational subgroup. Then:

- (1) For any finite generating set A of G there is an algorithm which solves the membership problem for H in G in quadratic time.
- (2) Suppose that G is word-hyperbolic. Then for any finite generating set A of G there is an algorithm which solves the membership problem for H is G in linear time.

Proof. Both of these statements are very well-known (see [27, 31, 29]), but we will indicate how the algorithm works.

To see (1) suppose that A is a finite generating set of G. Then there is an automatic language L over $A \cup A^{-1}$ for G such that L_H is regular. Given an

arbitrary word w over $A \cup A^{-1}$ we first apply the quadratic-time algorithm of [27] to take w to a normal form in L, that is to find $w' \in L$ such that w and w' represent the same element of G. Since an automatic language L consists of quasigeodesics [27], we have $|w'| \leq c|w|$, where c is some constant independent of w. We then check whether or not $w' \in L_H$ (which can be done in linear time in terms of |w'|). The total expanded time is clearly quadratic in |w|.

For a hyperbolic group G and a rational subgroup $H \leq G$ the algorithm solving the membership problem in linear time is virtually identical. First, for any finite generating set A of G there is a finite presentation of G as $G = \langle A|R\rangle$ such that all Dehn-reduced words for this presentation are quasigeodesics (To see this one has to choose R large enough and use the fact that local geodesics in the $\Gamma(G,A)$ are global quasigeodesics, provided the "local" parameter is chosen to be sufficiently large [2, 25, 32]). It is obvious that the set L of all Dehn-reduced words is regular. Moreover, $H \leq G$ is rational implies that H is a quasiconvex subset of $\Gamma(G,A)$. Hence H is L-quasiconvex since in a hyperbolic metric space a quasigeodesic and a geodesic with common endpoints are Hausdorff-close (again, see [2, 25, 32]). Therefore H is L-rational by Proposition 7.2 and so L_H is a regular language. Unlike the general case of an automatic group, as we mentioned earlier there is a *linear time* algorithm which takes a word w over A to its Dehn-reduced form w' (see [2, 4]) where $|w'| \leq |w|$. The algorithm solving the membership problem for H in G now works exactly as in the general automatic case.

Theorem B. Let G be a finitely generated group and let $H \leq G_1 \leq G$ where G_1 has finite index in G. Suppose there is an epimorphism $\phi: G_1 \to \overline{G}$ such that $\overline{H} = \phi(H)$ is contained in a subgroup $\overline{K} \leq \overline{G}$ of infinite index in \overline{G} such that the membership problem for \overline{K} in \overline{G} is in the complexity class C. Then the membership problem for H in G has generic-case complexity in C. Moreover, if the coset graph of $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K})$ is non-amenable (for some and hence any finite generating set A of G), then the generic-case complexity of the membership problem for H in G is strongly in C.

Proof. Let $A = \{x_1, \ldots, x_k\}$ be a finite generating set for G and let B be some finite generating set of G_1 . Let $\pi: F \to G$ be the canonical epimorphism corresponding to the presentation $G = \langle x_1, \ldots, x_k | u_1, \ldots, u_m, \ldots \rangle$, where $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_k)$. Let $K_1 := \phi^{-1}(\overline{K}) \leq G_1 \leq G$ and let $K_2 := \pi^{-1}(K_1) \leq F$. Note that $[G_1:K_1] = [\overline{G}:\overline{K}] = \infty$ and hence $[F:K_2] = \infty$. Moreover, the Schreier coset graphs $\Gamma(F, K_2, A) = \Gamma(G, K_1, A)$ and $\Gamma(G_1, K_1, B) = \Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K}, B)$ are quasi-isometric since G_1 has finite index in G. Thus $\Gamma(F, K_2, A)$ is non-amenable if and only if $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K}, B)$ is non-amenable.

Moreover $H \leq K_1$. Thus if $w \in (A \cup A^{-1})^* - (K_2)_A$ then $\pi(w) \in G - H$. Let $z_n = z_n(F, K_2, A)$ let $C_n = \frac{(2k)^{n+1}-1}{2k-1}$ be the number of words in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$ of length at most n. Since $[F:K_2] = \infty$, Theorem 6.3 implies that $(K_2)_A$ has zero asymptotic density in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$, that is

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{z_n}{C_n}=0 \text{ and } \lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{C_n-z_n}{C_n}=1,$$

and in both cases the convergence is exponentially fast if $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K}, B)$ is non-amenable. Thus the set $(A \cup A^{-1})^* - (K_2)_A$ is generic (and even strongly generic if $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K}, B)$ is non-amenable).

Fix a finite right Schreier transversal T for G_1 in G so that $1 \in T$, $|T| = [G:G_1]$ and $G = \bigcup_{t \in T} G_1 t$. Also fix the finite Schreier coset graph $\Gamma(G, G_1, A)$. Recall that a Schreier rewriting process for G_1 in G consists in rewriting a word $w \in (A \cup A^{-1})^*$ as a word vt where $v \in (B \cup B^{-1})^*$ and $t \in T$, so that vt and w represent the same element of G. Thus w represents an element of G_1 if and only if t = 1. We recall, briefly, how the Schreier rewriting process works. For every $t \in T$ and $x \in A \cup A^{-1}$ we fix a word $u(t,x) \in (B \cup B^{-1})^*$ and an element $s(t,x) \in T$ such that tx = u(t,x)s(t,x) in G. Given a word $w = x_1 \dots x_n \in (A \cup A^{-1})^*$, where each $x_i \in A \cup A^{-1}$, we rewrite it as follows. First $1 \cdot x_1 = u(1,x_1)s(1,x_1)$. If $x_1 \dots x_i$ has already been rewritten as $u_i t_i$, where $u_i \in (B \cup B^{-1})^*$ and $t_i \in T$, then

$$x_1 \dots x_i x_{i+1} = u_i t_i x_{i+1} = u_i u(t_i, x_{i+1}) s(t_i, x_{i+1}).$$

Thus we put $u_{i+1} = u_i u(t_i, x_{i+1})$, $t_{i+1} = s(t_i, x_{i+1})$ and continue to the next step. At the end of the process we rewrite w as ut, where u is a word in $B \cup B^{-1}$ and $t \in T$. This rewriting process requires at most a linear amount of space and time in terms of |w|. Moreover, we have $|v| \leq C|w|$, where $C = \max\{|u(t,x)| : t \in T, x \in A \cup A^{-1}\}$.

We will now construct a correct partial algorithm Ω for the membership problem of H in G as follows. Let w be a word in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$. Denote by g the element of G represented by w. First we read the word w in the finite Schreier graph $\Gamma(G, G_1, A)$ starting from the vertex $G_1 \cdot 1$ and simultaneously apply the Schreier rewriting process to w. If the terminal vertex of the resulting path is different from $G_1 \cdot 1$, then $\pi(w) \not\in G_1$ and hence $\pi(w) \not\in H$. We declare that $w \not\in MP(G, H, A)$ and terminate Ω in this case.

If the resulting path ends at $G_1 \cdot 1$ then $\pi(w) \in G_1$ and we have rewritten w as a word v in $(B \cup B^{-1})^*$. Note that $|v| \leq C|w|$ where C > 0 is some constant independent of w.

By assumption the membership problem for \overline{K} in \overline{G} is solvable with complexity \mathcal{C} . We apply this algorithm to the word v. If the element \overline{g} of \overline{G} represented by v does not belong to \overline{K} , then $\overline{g} \notin \overline{H}$. Hence the element g of G represented by w and v does not belong to H. In this case we declare that $w \notin MP(G, H, A)$ and terminate Ω .

If it turns out that v represents an element of \overline{K} , we terminate Ω without an answer.

The algorithm Ω terminates with a correct answer for every $w \notin (K_2)_A$. Since the set $(A \cup A^{-1})^* - (K_2)_A$ is generic (and even strongly generic if $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K}, B)$ is non-amenable), the statement of Theorem B holds. \square

Our theorem on the word problem is an immediate corollary.

Theorem A. Let $G = \langle x_1, ..., x_k | R \rangle$ be a finitely generated non-cyclic group. Suppose that G has a finite index subgroup that possesses an infinite quotient group \overline{G} in which the word problem is solvable in the class C. Then the word problem for G has generic-case complexity in the class C.

Moreover, if the group \overline{G} is non-amenable, then the generic-case complexity of the word problem for G is strongly in C

Proof. Let $G_1 \leq G$ be a subgroup of finite index and let $\phi: G_1 \to \overline{G}$ be an epimorphism as in the statement of Theorem A. Put $H = \{1\} \leq G$ and $\overline{K} = \{1\} \leq \overline{G}$. Thus $\phi(H) \leq \overline{K}$. Moreover, the membership problem for H in G is precisely the word problem for G. Similarly the membership problem for \overline{K} in \overline{G} is precisely the word problem for \overline{G} . Now the conclusion of Theorem A follows from Theorem B.

Remark 7.6. Theorem 6.3 shows that the statements of both Theorem A and Theorem B remain true if we define asymptotic density and genericity in terms of subsets of F(A) (rather than subsets of $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$) by counting the ratios of the number of freely reduced words from a subset over the number of all freely reduced words.

Corollary 7.7. Let G be a finitely generated group and let $H \leq G_1 \leq G$, where $[G:G_1] < \infty$. Let $\phi:G_1 \to \overline{G}$ be an epimorphism with $\overline{H} = \phi(H)$. Then:

- (1) Suppose \overline{G} is word-hyperbolic and $\overline{H} \leq \overline{G}$ is contained in a quasiconvex subgroup \overline{K} of infinite index in \overline{G} . Then the membership problem for H in G is strongly generically in linear time.
- (2) Suppose \overline{G} is automatic and $\overline{H} \leq \overline{G}$ is contained in a rational subgroup \overline{K} of infinite index in \overline{G} . Then the membership problem for H in G is generically in quadratic time. Moreover, if $\Gamma(\overline{G}, \overline{K})$ is non-amenable then the membership problem for H in G is strongly generically in quadratic time.

Proof. This follows directly from Theorem B and Proposition 7.5. \Box

8. The Conjugacy problem

Let $F = F(x_1, ..., x_k)$ and let $A = \{x_1, ..., x_k\}$ be a fixed free basis of F, where $k \geq 2$.

Convention 8.1. As before, we will denote by C_n the number of words of length at most n in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$. Thus $C_n = \frac{(2k)^{n+1}-1}{2k-1}$.

Let Q_n be the number of pairs (w_1, w_2) of words in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$ with $|w_1| + |w_2| \le n$.

Note that if $|w_1| + |w_2| = i \le n$ then $|w_1w_2| = i \le n$. For a fixed word w of length i there are (i+1) ways of representing w as $w = w_1w_2$. Recall that $A \cup A^{-1}$ consists of 2k letters.

Hence:

$$Q_n = \sum_{i=0}^{n} (i+1)(2k)^i$$

Proposition 8.2. Let $H \leq F$ be a subgroup of infinite index. Let $S \subseteq (A \cup A^{-1})^* \times (A \cup A^{-1})^*$ be the set of all pairs (w_1, w_2) with $|w_1| + |w_2| \leq n$ such that $w_1w_2^{-1}$ represents an element of H. Then $\widehat{\rho}_A(S) = 0$.

Proof. Let $b_j = b_j(F, H, A)$ be the number of all words of length j representing elements of H. Then by Theorem 6.3 $\lim_{n\to\infty} b_j/(2k)^j = 0$ since H has infinite index in F.

Suppose $(w_1.w_2)$ is a pair of words such that $|w_1| + |w_2| = i \le n$ and that the words $w := w_1w_2^{-1}$ represents an element of H. For a fixed word w of length i representing an element of H there are i+1 ways of writing w as $w = w_1w_2^{-1}$. Hence

$$\sigma_n(S) = \sum_{i=0}^n (i+1)b_i.$$

Therefore

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\sigma_n(S)}{Q_n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{\sum_{i=0}^n (i+1)b_i}{\sum_{i=0}^n (i+1)(2k)^i} = \text{ (by Stoltz' Theorem)}$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(n+1)b_n}{(n+1)(2k)^n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{b_n}{(2k)^n} = 0,$$

as required.

Theorem C. Let G be a non-cyclic finitely generated group with infinite abelianization. Then the generic-case complexity of the conjugacy problem for G is linear time.

Proof. Let \overline{G} be the abelianization of G and let $\phi: G \to \overline{G}$ be the abelianization map. Let $F = F(x_1, \ldots, x_k)$, $A = \{x_1, \ldots, x_k\}$ and let $\pi: F \to G$ be the presentation epimorphism. Let $H \leq G$ be $H := Ker(\phi \circ \pi)$. As before, let H_A be the set of all words in $(A \cup A^{-1})^*$ representing elements of H.

$$S := \{ (w_1, w_2) \in (A \cup A^{-1})^* \times (A \cup A^{-1})^* \mid \phi(\pi(w_1)) = \phi(\pi(w_2)) \} =$$

$$= \{ (w_1, w_2) \in (A \cup A^{-1})^* \times (A \cup A^{-1})^* \mid w_1 w_2^{-1} \in H_A \}.$$

By Proposition 8.2 $\widehat{\rho}_A(S) = 0$. If $(w_1, w_2) \notin S$ then $\phi(\pi(w_1)) \neq \phi(\pi(w_2))$ and hence $\phi(\pi(w_1))$ is not conjugate to $\phi(\pi(w_2))$ in \overline{G} (since \overline{G} is abelian). Thus if $(w_1, w_2) \notin S$ then $\pi(w_1)$ is not conjugate to $\pi(w_2)$ in G.

Since \overline{G} is finitely generated abelian, there is an algorithm Ω which solves the word problem for \overline{G} in linear time. Hence for any pair $(w_1, w_2) \notin S$

with $|w_1| + |w_2| \le n$ the algorithm Ω will terminate in linear time of n and declare that $\phi(\pi(w_1)) \ne \phi(\pi(w_2))$ and hence $\pi(w_1)$ is not conjugate to $\pi(w_2)$ in G.

9. Some general observations on generic-case complexity

As mentioned in Sectionintro, we are greatly indebted to Carl Jockusch and Frank Stephan for stimulating conversations about some general features of generic-case complexity and the results in this section are due to them. First, Carl Jockusch observed that if we put a reasonable measure on the set of all languages over an alphabet A with at least two letters, then the set of generically computable languages has measure zero. Second, Frank Stephan observed that the standard Time Hierarchy Theorem of complexity theory can be modified to separate deterministic time classes from generic complexity classes. Thus, for example, there is a language L in DTIME (n^3) which is not in GenTIME(n).

Fix an alphabet A with at least two letters. A language L over A is generically computable if there is a partial algorithm Ω such that the set S on which Ω correctly decides membership in L has $\widehat{\rho}(S) = 1$. The canonical or shortlex ordering of the set A^* of all words on A orders words first by length and within length, by the lexicographical ordering induced from a linear ordering of A. So we have a listing $\{w_1, ..., w_n....\}$ of A^* in which all words of a shorter length come before all words of a longer length. We can now identify a language $L \subseteq A^*$ with its characteristic function χ_L where

$$\chi_L(n) = \begin{cases} 1 \text{ if } w_n \in L, \\ 0 \text{ if } w_n \notin L. \end{cases}$$

Since such a characteristic function is an infinite sequence $(b_n)_{n\geq 1}$ of 0's and 1's, we can regard it as the binary expansion of a real number in the unit interval [0,1]. A binary expansion is unique except for those which are either all 0's or all 1's from some point onwards. A binary representation which is all 0's from some point onwards corresponds to a finite subset of A^* . There are only countably many finite subsets and excluding them gives a one-to-one correspondence between the infinite subsets of A^* and the half-open interval (0,1]. The standard Lebesgue measure on (0,1] then gives a measure on the set of infinite subsets of A^* and this is the measure which we use.

Theorem 9.1. Let A be a finite alphabet with at least two letters. Fix a linear ordering of A and let m be the measure on the set of infinite languages over A induced by the shortlex ordering as described above.

Then the set of languages over A which are generically computable has measure zero.

Proof. It suffices to show that if Ω is any fixed partial algorithm whose output is either 0 or 1 then the set of languages which are generically decided by Ω has measure 0. Since there are only countably many algorithms, it then follows that the set of all generically decidable languages has measure 0. Let ω be the infinite sequence of 0's and 1's where $\omega(n) = 1$ if Ω calculates 1 for $w_n \in A^*$ and $\omega(n) = 0$ otherwise. The point is that ω is now a fixed sequence.

For an integer $K \geq 1$ denote by g(K) the the number of subsets of a set with K elements which contain at least 3K/4 elements of that set. We need only the fact that the ratio of g(K) over the number 2^K of all subsets of a set with K elements goes to 0 as $K \to \infty$. This follows easily from applying Stirling's formula and computing the asymptotics of the binomial coefficient $\binom{K}{3K/4}$. This computation shows that

$$\frac{\binom{K}{3K/4}}{2^K} = o(\sigma^K) \text{ as } K \to \infty$$

for some number $0 < \sigma < 1$. Hence

$$\frac{g(K)}{2^K} := \frac{\binom{K}{3K/4} + \binom{K}{3K/4+1} + \dots + \binom{K}{K}}{2^K} \le \frac{K}{4} \frac{\binom{K}{3K/4}}{2^K} \underset{K \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} 0$$

For every integer $j \geq 0$ the set A^* has exactly $s(j) := \frac{k^{j+1}-1}{k-1}$ words of length $\leq j$, where k = #A. Thus the first s(j) digits in the binary sequence of a language L determine exactly which words in A^* of length at most j belong to L.

Fix an arbitrary $\epsilon > 0$. Take an integer $j_1 > 0$ large enough so that $\frac{g(K)}{2^K} \leq \frac{\epsilon}{2}$ for any integer $K \geq s(j_1)$. Let Q_1 be the set of all infinite binary sequences which agree with the first $s(j_1)$ digits of ω in at least $3s(j_1)/4$ positions. Note that for a fixed binary string α of length $s(j_1)$ the measure of the set of all infinite binary sequences with initial segment α is $2^{-s(j_1)}$. Hence $m(Q_1) \leq g(s(j_1))2^{-s(j_1)} \leq \frac{\epsilon}{2}$.

Now take an integer $j_2 > j_1$ large enough so that $\frac{g(K)}{2^K} \le \frac{\epsilon}{2^2}$ for any integer $K > s(j_2)$. Let Q_2 be the set of all infinite binary sequences which agree with the first $s(j_2)$ digits of ω in at least $3s(j_2)/4$ positions. Again we see that $m(Q_2) \le \frac{\epsilon}{2^2}$. Continue in this way, choosing at step n an integer $j_n > j_{n-1}$ large enough so that for any integer $K \ge s(j_n)$ we have $\frac{g(K)}{2^K} \le \frac{\epsilon}{2^n}$. Let Q_n be the set of all infinite binary sequences agreeing with the first $s(j_n)$ digits of ω in at least $3s(j_n)/4$ positions. Then $m(Q_n) \le \frac{\epsilon}{2^n}$.

Put $Q = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} Q_n$. Then

$$m(Q) \le \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{\epsilon}{2^n} = \epsilon.$$

Now suppose that L is any language generically decided by Ω . Be our choice of the enumeration of A^* and by the definition of generic computability, there exists an integer constant $i \geq 0$ such that for any $j \geq i$ the binary

sequence of L agrees with the initial segment of ω of length s(j) in at least 3s(j)/4 positions. Choose n such that $j_n \geq i$. Then $\chi_L \in Q_n \subseteq Q$ by construction of Q_n .

Thus we have shown that for any $\epsilon > 0$ the set of all languages generically computable by Ω can be covered by a set of measure at most ϵ . As required, this implies that the set of languages generically computable by Ω has measure zero.

The following theorem is due to Frank Stephan. Recall that we are following the definitions and notations of [51] for computational complexity. A proper complexity function f is a non-decreasing function for which there is a multi-tape Turing machine which, on an input w computes the string $1^{f(|w|)}$ in O(|w|+f(|w|)) steps and uses O(f(|w|)) space besides its input. The reason for insisting on proper complexity functions is that they can be used as "clocks" when simulating Turing machines. One effectively assigns a word $\gamma(M)$ on a fixed alphabet A which codes the Turing machine M. There is a universal Turing machine U which, when given as input a word $\gamma(M)w$, simulates the machine M on the input w. (We can assume that w is a word in the alphabet $\{0,1\}$.) If f is a proper complexity function we can define a time-bounded version of the Halting Problem by

$$H(f) = {\gamma(M)w : M \text{ accepts } w \text{ in at most } f(|w|) \text{ steps}}.$$

The following statement is Lemma 7.1 of [51] which shows that, given the code of a Turing machine M, we do not need more than time $f^3(|w|)$ to simulate M for f(|w|) steps on an input w.

Lemma 9.2. $H(f) \in DTIME(f^3(n))$.

Using the lemma we can prove

Theorem 9.3. If $f(n) \ge n$ is a proper complexity function then there is a language $L \subseteq \{0,1\}^*$ which is computable in time $f^3(n)$ but not generically computable in time f(n).

Proof. The idea of the proof is that for each Turing machine M we specify infinitely many lengths devoted to "defeating" the machine M. We can do this by using ordered pairs. Let \mathbb{N}^+ denote the set of positive integers. The standard one-to-one enumeration, often called the "pairing function",

$$p: \mathbb{N}^+ \times \mathbb{N}^+ \to \mathbb{N}^+$$

is given by a simple formula and its inverse function p^{-1} is also easily computable, certainly in cubic time. We define the language L as follows. If w is a word on $\{0,1\}$, let n=|w| and calculate $p^{-1}(n)=(r,s)$. If r is not the code $\gamma(M)$ of a Turing machine then $w \notin L$

If $r = \gamma(M)$ for some Turing machine M, we simulate the action of M on the input w for f(|w|) steps. By Lemma 9.2 this requires at most $O(f^3(|w|))$ steps. Put w in L if and only if M did not accept w in f(|w|) steps.

By construction we have $L \in \text{DTIME}(f^3(n))$. On the other hand, if L were in GenTIME(f(n)) then there would exist a Turing machine M' and an integer n such that for all $m \geq n$ the machine M' correctly decides membership in L' on at least three-quarters of all words of length less than or equal to m. Let $r = \gamma(M')$, let s > n and let $t = p^{-1}(r, s)$. Note that t > n. By construction, M' does not correctly decide membership in L' for any words of length t in time f(t). But more than half of the words of length less than or equal to t have length exactly t. Hence M' fails to generically decide L' in time f(n), yielding a contradiction.

References

- [1] S. I. Adian and V. G. Durnev, Algorithmic problems for groups and semigroups, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk **55** (2000), no. 2, 3–94; translation in Russian Math. Surveys **55** (2000), no. 2, 207–296.
- [2] J. Alonso, T. Brady, D. Cooper, V. Ferlini, M. Lustig, M. Mihalik, M. Shapiro and H. Short, Notes on hyperbolic groups, In: Group theory from a geometrical viewpoint, Proceedings of the workshop held in Trieste, É. Ghys, A. Haefliger and A. Verjovsky (editors). World Scientific Publishing Co., 1991.
- [3] I. Anshel, M. Anshel and D. Goldfeld, An algebraic method for public-key cryptography. Math. Res. Lett. 6 (1999), 287–291.
- [4] M. Anshel and B. Domanski, *The complexity of Dehn's algorithm for word problems in groups*, J. Algorithms **6** (1985), 543–549.
- [5] K. Appel and P. Schupp, Artin groups and infinite Coxeter groups, Invent. Math. 72 (1983), 201–220.
- [6] G. Arzhantseva and A. Olshanskii, Genericity of the class of groups in which subgroups with a lesser number of generators are free, (Russian) Mat. Zametki 59 (1996), no. 4, 489–496.
- [7] G. Arzhantseva, On groups in which subgroups with a fixed number of generators are free, (Russian) Fundam. Prikl. Mat. 3 (1997), no. 3, 675–683.
- [8] G. Arzhantseva, Generic properties of finitely presented groups and Howson's theorem, Comm. Algebra 26 (1998), 3783–3792.
- [9] G. Arzhantseva, A property of subgroups of infinite index in a free group, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 128 (2000), 3205–3210.
- [10] L. Bartholdi, Counting paths in graphs, Enseign. Math. (2) 45 (1999), 83–131.
- [11] B. Baumslag and S. J. Pride, Groups with two more generators than relators, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 17 (1978), no. 3, 425–426
- [12] G. Baumslag, S. M. Gersten, M. Shapiro and H. Short, Automatic groups and amalgams. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 76 (1991), 229–316.
- [13] G. Baumslag and C. F. Miller III, Experimenting and computing with infinite groups. Groups and computation, II (New Brunswick, NJ, 1995), 19–30, DIMACS Ser. Discrete Math. Theoret. Comput. Sci., 28, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1997.
- [14] J. S. Birman, *Braids, links and mapping class groups*, Ann. Math. Studies **82**, Princeton Univ. Press, 1974.
- [15] J. S. Birman, K. H. Ko, J. S. Lee, A new approach to the word and conjugacy problems in the braid groups, Adv. Math. 139 (1998), 322–353.
- [16] A. Borovik, A. G. Myasnikov and V. Remeslennikov, *Multiplicative measures on free groups*, to appear in Internat. J. Algebra Comput.
- [17] A. Borovik, A. G. Myasnikov, V. Shpilrain, *Measuring sets in infinite groups*, Contemp. Math., Computational and statistical group theory (Las Vegas,

- NV/Hoboken, NJ, 2001), 21–42, Contemp. Math., **298**, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2002
- [18] T. Ceccherini-Silberstein, R. Grigorchuck and P. de la Harpe, Amenability and paradoxical decompositions for pseudogroups and discrete metric spaces, (Russian) Tr. Mat. Inst. Steklova 224 (1999), Algebra. Topol. Differ. Uravn. i ikh Prilozh., 68–111; translation in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math., 224 (1999), no. 1, 57–97.
- [19] C. Champetier, Petite simplification dans les groupes hyperboliques, Ann. Fac. Sci. Toulouse Math. (6) 3 (1994), no. 2, 161–221.
- [20] C. Champetier, Propriétés statistiques des groupes de présentation finie, Adv. Math. 116 (1995), 197–262.
- [21] C. Champetier, The space of finitely generated groups, Topology 39 (2000), 657–680.
- [22] P.-A. Cherix and A. Valette, On spectra of simple random walks on one-relator groups, With an appendix by Paul Jolissaint. Pacific J. Math. 175 (1996), 417– 438.
- [23] P.-A. Cherix and G. Schaeffer, An asymptotic Freiheitssatz for finitely generated groups, Enseign. Math. (2) 44 (1998), 9–22.
- [24] J. M. Cohen, Cogrowth and amenability of discrete groups, J. Funct. Anal. 48 (1982), 301–309.
- [25] M. Coornaert, T. Delzant, and A. Papadopoulos, Géométrie et théorie des groupes. Les groupes hyperboliques de Gromov. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1441. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [26] P. Dehornoy, A fast method for comparing braids, Adv. Math. 125 (1997), 200–235.
- [27] D. Epstein, J. Cannon, D. Holt, S. Levy, M. Paterson, W. Thurston, Word Processing in Groups, Jones and Bartlett, Boston, 1992.
- [28] B. Farb, Automatic groups: a guided tour, Enseign. Math. (2) **38** (1992), 291–313.
- [29] R. Foord, PhD Thesis, Warwick University, 2000.
- [30] S. Gersten, Introduction to hyperbolic and automatic groups. Summer School in Group Theory in Banff, 1996, 45–70, CRM Proc. Lecture Notes, 17, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1999.
- [31] S. Gersten and H. Short, Rational subgroups of bi-automatic groups, Ann. of Math. (2) 134 (1991), 125–158.
- [32] E. Ghys and P. de la Harpe (editors), Sur les groupes hyperboliques d'aprés Mikhael Gromov, Birkhäuser, Progress in Mathematics series, vol. 83, 1990.
- [33] R. Grigorchuk, Symmetrical random walks on discrete groups, Multicomponent random systems, pp. 285–325, Adv. Probab. Related Topics, 6, Dekker, New York, 1980.
- [34] M. Gromov, *Hyperbolic groups*, Essays in group theory, Springer, New York, 1987, pp. 75–263.
- [35] M. Gromov, Asymptotic invariants of infinite groups, Geometric group theory, Vol. 2 (Sussex, 1991), Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1993, pp. 1–295.
- [36] M. Gromov, Random walks in random groups, preprint.
- [37] Y. Gurevich, Average case completeness, J. of Computer and System Science 42 (1991), 346–398.
- [38] D. Holt, Word-hyperbolic groups have real-time word problem, Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 10 (2000), 221–227.
- [39] D. Holt and S. Rees, Solving the word problem in real time, J. London Math. Soc. (2) 63 (2001), 623–639.
- [40] I. Kapovich, The non-amenability of Schreier graphs for infinite index quasiconvex subgroups of hyperbolic groups, to appear in Ensign. Math.
- [41] V. Klee and G. Minty, *How good is the simplex algorithm?* Inequalities, III (Proc. Third Sympos., Univ. California, Los Angeles, Calif., 1969; dedicated to the memory of Theodore S. Motzkin), pp. 159–175. Academic Press, New York, 1972.

- [42] L. Levin, Average case complete problems, SIAM Journal of Computing 15 (1986), 285–286.
- [43] R. Lipton and Y. Zalcstein, Word problems solvable in logspace, J. Assoc. Comput. Mach. 24 (1977), no. 3, 522–526
- [44] R. C. Lyndon and P. E. Schupp, Combinatorial Group Theory, Ergebnisse der Mathematik, band 89, Springer 1977. Reprinted in the Springer Classics in Mathematics series, 2000.
- [45] W. Magnus, Das Identitätsproblem für Gruppen mit einer definierenden Relation, Math. Ann., 106 (1932), 295–307.
- [46] K. A. Mihailova, The occurrence problem for direct products of groups, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 119 (1958), 1103–1105.
- [47] C. F. Miller III, On Group-theoretic Decision Problems and their Classification, Ann. of Math. Studies, 68 (1971). Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- [48] C. F. Miller III, Decision problems for groups Survey and reflections, in: Algorithms and Classification in Combinatorial Group Theory, G. Bamuslag and C.F. Miller III, editors, (1992), Springer, 1–60.
- [49] A. D. Miasnikov and A. G. Myasnikov, Whitehead's descent and heuristic algorithms, preprint, 2002.
- [50] A. Yu. Ol'shanskii, Almost every group is hyperbolic, Internat. J. Algebra Comput. 2 (1992), 1–17.
- [51] C. Papadimitriou, Computation Complexity, (1994), Addison-Wesley, Reading.
- [52] J. Rotman, An introduction to the theory of groups. Fourth edition. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 148, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1995.
- [53] P. E. Schupp, Coxeter groups, 2-completion, perimeter reduction and subgroup separability, Geometrica Dedicata, to appear.
- [54] H. Short, An introduction to automatic groups. Semigroups, formal languages and groups (York, 1993), 233–253, NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci., 466, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1995.
- [55] R. Spigler and M. Vianello, Cesàro's theorems for complex sequences, J. Math. Anal. Appl. **180** (1993), no. 2, 317–324.
- [56] J. Tits, Free subgroups in linear groups, J. Algebra 20 1972, 250–270
- [57] A. Ushakov, Genetic algorithms for the conjugacy problem in one-relator groups, in preparation.
- [58] A. M. Vershik, Dynamic theory of growth in groups: entropy, boundaries, examples, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk **55** (2000), no. 4 (334), 59–128; translation in Russian Math. Surveys **55** (2000), no. 4, 667–733.
- [59] N. Wagner and M. Magyarik, A public-key cryptosystem based on the word problem. Advances in cryptology (Santa Barbara, Calif., 1984), 19–36, Lecture Notes in Comput. Sci., 196, Springer, Berlin, 1985.
- [60] J. Wang, Average-case completeness of a word problem in groups, Proc. of the 27-th Annual Symposium on Theory of Computing, ACM Press, New York, 1995, 325–334.
- [61] J. Wang, Average-case computational complexity theory, Complexity Theory Retrospective, II. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1997, 295–334.
- [62] J. Wang, Distributional word problem for groups, SIAM J. Comput. 28 (1999), no. 4, 1264–1283.
- [63] W. Woess, Cogrowth of groups and simple random walks, Arch. Math. 41 (1983), 363–370.
- [64] W. Woess, Random walks on infinite graphs and groups a survey on selected topics, Bull. London Math. Soc. 26 (1994), 1–60.

Department of Mathematics, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1409 West Green Street, Urbana, IL 61801, USA

http://www.math.uiuc.edu/~kapovich/

 $E\text{-}mail\ address: \verb+kapovich@math.uiuc.edu+$

Department of Mathematics, The City College of New York, New York, NY 10031 http://home.att.net/~alexeim/index.htm

 $E ext{-}mail\ address: alexeim@att.net}$

Department of Mathematics, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 1409 West Green Street, Urbana, IL 61801, USA

http://www.math.uiuc.edu/People/schupp.html

E-mail address: schupp@math.uiuc.edu

Department of Mathematics, The City College of New York, New York, NY 10031 http://www.sci.ccny.cuny.edu/~shpil

 $E\text{-}mail\ address: \verb|shpil@groups.sci.ccny.cuny.edu|$